DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT
COMMITTEE

14 April 2021
7.00 pm
Virtual

Contact
Ian.Smith
democraticservices@watford.gov.uk
01923 278323
For further information about attending meetings please visit the council’s website.

Publication date: 6 April 2021

Committee Membership
Councillor P Jeffree (Chair)
Councillor S Johnson (Vice-Chair)
Councillors N Bell, K Collett, M Mills, J Pattinson, I Sharpe, R Smith and M Watkin

Agenda
Part A – Open to the Public
CONDUCT OF THE MEETING
The committee will take items in the following order:
1. All items where people wish to speak and have registered with Democratic
Services.
2. Any remaining items the committee agrees can be determined without further
debate.
3. Those applications which the committee wishes to discuss in detail.
1.

Apologies for absence

2.

Disclosure of interests

3.

Minutes
The minutes of the meeting held on 15 March to be agreed and signed at the next
meeting held at the Town Hall.

4.

20/01491/FULM - Dhamecha, Imperial Way, Watford, WD24 4UA (Pages 5 - 22)

5.

21/00159/VARM Integrity House 3 Rhodes Way Watford WD24 4YW (Pages 23 51)

6.

20/00541/VAR - 112-114, The Parade (Pages 52 - 64)

Introduction
Please note that the officer report is a summary of the issues including representations
made and consultation responses. Full details of the applications, plans submitted,
supporting information and documents, representations made, consultation responses
and correspondence can be found on the council’s web based Public Access system using
the application reference or address.
Specific policy considerations for each application are detailed within the individual
reports. The background papers and policy framework listed below have been relied upon
in the preparation of the reports in this agenda.
Background papers
 The current planning applications under consideration and correspondence related
to that application.
 All relevant third party representations and consultation replies received.
Policy Framework
 The Statutory Plans and Supplementary Planning Guidance, together with relevant
Government legislation, Circulars, Advice, Orders, Directions and Guidance listed
below:
Local Planning Documents
Local Development Documents provide the framework for making planning decisions.
These can be found on the Council’s website and include:
 the existing Local Plan which consists of the Core Strategy, saved policies in the
Watford District Plan 2000 and Proposals Map); and
 Supplementary Planning Documents.
County Planning Documents
The Hertfordshire Waste Local Plan and Minerals Local Plan prepared by Hertfordshire
County Council are material considerations alongside the Watford Local Plan. These
documents can be found on the county council’s website.
National Planning Documents
Key legislation can be found using this weblink, including:
 Growth and Infrastructure Act (2013)
 Housing and Planning Act (2016)







Localism Act (2011) and subsequent amendments
Planning Act (2008) and subsequent amendments
Planning and Compulsory Planning Act (2004) and subsequent amendments
Town and Country Planning Act (1990) and subsequent amendments
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 and
subsequent amendments.

National guidance can be found on the government service and information website,
including:
 National Planning Policy Framework (revised February 2019) and supporting
Technical Guidance
 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) (web based)
 Planning policy for traveller sites
 Relevant government circulars
 Relevant Ministerial Statements (which will be referred to in the individual reports
as necessary)
Section 106 Planning obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
The Council introduced the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) with effect from 1 April
2015. The CIL charge covers a wide range of infrastructure as set out in the Council’s
Regulation 123 list, including highways and transport improvements, education provision,
youth facilities, childcare facilities, children’s play space, adult care services, open space
and sports facilities. CIL is chargeable on the relevant net additional floorspace created by
the development. The charge is non-negotiable and is calculated at the time that planning
permission is granted where relevant. Section 106 planning obligations can only be used
to secure affordable housing provision and other site specific requirements, such as the
removal of entitlement to parking permits in Controlled Parking Zones and the provision of
fire hydrants.
Human Rights implications
The Local Planning Authority is justified in interfering with the applicant’s human rights in
order to alleviate any adverse effect on adjoining properties and their occupiers and on
general public amenity. With regard to any infringement of third party human rights,
these are not considered to be of such a nature and degree as to override the human
rights of the applicant and therefore warrant refusal of planning permission.

Agenda Item 4

Committee Date
Application Reference
Site Address
Proposal
Applicant
Agent
Type of Application
Reason for
Committee Item
Target Decision Date
Statutory Publicity
Case Officer
Ward

Wednesday 14 April 2021
20/01491/FULM
Dhamecha, Imperial Way, Watford, WD24 4UA
Construction of 4no. light industrial units (Class E),
associated car and cycle parking and access.
Empire Partners Ltd
PPML Consulting Ltd
Full Planning Permission
Major Application
Wednesday 19th April 2021 (extended by agreement)
Watford Observer, Neighbour letters and Site Notice
Helen Harris; helen.harris@watford.gov.uk
Tudor

1.

Recommendation

1.1

That planning permission be granted, subject to conditions and informatives as
set out in Section 8 of this Committee Report.

2.

Site and Surroundings

2.1

The application site is located within the designated Imperial Way/Colonial Way
Employment Area, as shown on the Proposals Map of the Watford District Plan
2000. The site comprises an irregular shaped plot of land fronting Imperial Way,
north of its junction with Ryan Way, with an area of 2,567sqm. The land is open
and hard surfaced, formerly used for car parking and does not have any
buildings on the site. The site directly adjoins the existing large Dhamecha cash
and carry warehouse to the east, with a frontage to Imperial Way to the west,
the service access road to Dhamecha cash and carry depot to the north and
Ryan Way to the south. The site has existing access points to the north, taken
from the access road, and the south, taken from Ryan Way.

2.2

The surrounding area consists of industrial buildings of varying scale that are
predominantly used within the Class E (formerly Class B1(a-c)), Class B2 and
Class B8 planning use classes. Planning permission was granted in 2018
(reference: 18/00338/FULM) for the redevelopment of the site immediately to
the north at Blueprint Commercial Centre for new industrial buildings for use
within Class B1(b) and (c) (now Class E), Class B2 and Class B8. There is a varied
building line where some buildings are set back from the road, whilst others are
sited closer to the front boundary. Buildings generally have flat or shallow
pitched roof forms and utilise a variety of external materials.

Page 5

2.3

The application site is not located within a designated conservation area and
there are no listed buildings either on site nor located within proximity of the
site.

2.4

The application site is located within Ground Source Protection Zone 1, as shown
on the Environment Agency’s online mapping tool.

3.

Summary of the Proposal

3.1

Proposal

3.2

Full planning permission is sought for the erection of 4no. new commercial
buildings on the site for light industrial use within Class E (formerly Class B1(c)).
The buildings are sited along the western boundary of the site, close to the
boundary with Imperial Way, with parking and servicing to the rear. Access will
be from the existing northern access road, with the southern access to Ryan
Way to be closed off.

3.3

All 4no. buildings are single-storey (albeit with a high eaves level) and vary in
floor area between 261-280sqm with a total floor area of 1,087sqm. The
buildings are proposed to be of a steel-frame and cladding design with duopitched roofs and rooflights. The proposed external materials are red brick at
ground floor level and composite cladding for walls and roof. They have an
eaves level at 8m and at their maximum a height of 11.7m. A total of 19no.
parking spaces are provided to serve the units.

3.4

Conclusion

3.5

The proposed light industrial buildings will provide modern employment
floorspace within this designated existing employment area. The scale and
design of the proposed buildings are considered to be appropriate to the
surrounding context. There are not considered to be any adverse effects that
outweigh the benefits of the proposal and, therefore, it is recommended that
the application should be granted, subject to conditions.

4.

Relevant Policies

4.1

Members should refer to the background papers attached to the agenda. These
highlight the policy framework under which this application is determined.
Specific policy considerations with regard to this particular application are
detailed in Section 6, below.

Page 6

5.

Relevant Site History

5.1

The application site has the following planning permission history:

5.2

19/00288/FUL - Erection of 4no. Light Industrial units (Class B1(c)), associated
car and cycle parking and access. Conditional planning permission was granted
on 5th September 2019.

6.

Main Considerations

6.1

The main issues to be considered in the determination of these applications
are:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)

Principle of Development;
Design and Layout;
Access, Parking and Traffic Generation;
Impact upon Neighbouring Properties; and
Environmental Considerations

6.2
6.3

(a) Principle of Development
The application site is located within the Imperial Way/Colonial Way
Employment Area – indicated as Employment Area E3 on the Proposals Map of
the Watford District Plan 2000. “Saved” Policy E1 of the District Plan states that
proposals for research and development (former Use Class B1(b), now Use Class
E), light industry (former Use Class B1(c), now Use Class E), general industry (Use
Class B2) and storage and distribution (Use Class B8) would be acceptable in
principle in identified Employment Areas 1 – 6.

6.4

The South West Hertfordshire Economic Study Update (2019), Watford
Employment Land Review (2019) and Loss of Employment Space in
Hertfordshire (2019) reports have demonstrated there to be critical losses of
industrial floor space in the borough. The studies recommend greater
protection of industrial floor space to meet future economic growth
projections.

6.5

Section 11 of the NPPF establishes the requirement to make effective use of
land. Paragraph 117 establishes that “Planning policies and decisions should
promote an effective use of land in meeting the need for homes and other uses
while safeguarding and improving the environment…”. Paragraph 118 states
that planning policies and decisions should promote and support the
development of under-utilised land and buildings and give substantial weight
to the value of using suitable brownfield land. Paragraph 80 of the NPPF sets

Page 7

out that planning policies and decisions should help create conditions in which
businesses can invest, expand and adapt.
6.6

Policy SS1 of the Watford Local Plan Core Strategy 2006-31 states that an
increase of at least 7,000 jobs is planned for during the plan period.
Employment opportunities will be focused on locations including allocated
employment areas and improvements to allocated employment areas will be
encouraged to meet modern business needs.

6.7

The proposed light industrial units will provide new, modern employment
floorspace in accordance with these policies. It is acknowledged that the
previous planning permission has established the acceptability of the principle
of redevelopment of the site to accommodate light industrial use. The
proposals put forward in this application continue to align with, and support,
policy objectives and the principle is therefore considered acceptable.

6.8
6.9

(b) Design and Layout
The application scheme proposes a different layout and design to the four
industrial buildings from that approved under planning permission
19/00288/FUL. The buildings are repositioned on the site to now sit along the
western edge of the site closer to the Imperial Way frontage, with car parking
and servicing area contained to the rear of these buildings within the site. In
terms of their design, the buildings are now shown to be duo-pitch flat roof
rather than the previously approved dual-pitched arrangement and the
buildings feature extensive rooflights to improve natural daylight ingress to the
buildings.

6.10 The scale of the proposed buildings will match the height of the existing
Dhamecha warehouse and will be in keeping with the area. The scheme would
provide a functional layout and the design and appearance of the proposed
buildings is considered to be acceptable in the context of the site’s industrial
setting. Details of the external materials can be secured by condition.
6.11 (c) Access, Parking & Traffic Generation
6.12 (i) Access
The existing northern vehicular access from the service road will be retained
and the southern access to Ryan Way closed up. This is acceptable.
6.13 (ii) Parking
The application proposes 19no. on-site car parking spaces, which equates to a
parking ratio of 1 space per 57sqm. Appendix 2 of the District Plan states that
the maximum parking standard for a former Class B1(c) (now known as Class E)

Page 8

use is 1 space per 35sqm, so the proposal accords with this. Based upon the
proposed floorspace and location of the site within parking zone 4, this yields a
maximum provision of 31 spaces.
6.14 The application is supported by a Transport Statement which analyses the
proposed parking provision and anticipates the parking demand likely to be
generated by the proposed development. Maximum parking demand for 15no.
spaces is projected to occur between 12 noon and 12:30 hours on a typical
weekday. It is, therefore, considered that the proposed parking provision of
19no. spaces as part of this application would be sufficient to cater for the
proposed development and not result in overspill parking on the surrounding
road network.
6.15 (iii) Traffic Generation
It is acknowledged that the assessment of the previously approved planning
application established the acceptability of the access arrangements and
highways implications of a similar quantum of new industrial floorspace to that
which is hereby proposed in this application. The current proposals represent a
slight increase in the floorspace of approximately 57sqm (GIA). It is anticipated
that the proposed development will generate a total of 7 and 9 two-way
weekday trips during the AM and PM peak hour periods respectively. In terms
of trip generation, it is considered that the proposed development can be
satisfactorily accommodated on site without resulting in any significant impact
upon highway safety.
6.16 (iv) Deliveries and Servicing
Deliveries and servicing will take place on site. Each unit has a loading bay to
the front of the unit. Given the relatively small scale of the four proposed
industrial units extending to a maximum of 280sqm, deliveries and servicing
requirements are anticipated to be relatively low with trips during the weekday
peak hour periods resulting in no material detrimental impact on the
surrounding road network.
6.17

The largest vehicles projected to enter the site are expected to be a refuse
vehicle at approximately 8m in length and a 3.5 tonne van at approximately
5.5m in length. Swept path analysis has been undertaken and demonstrates
that each of these vehicle types could enter and exit the site in a forward
direction and their movements adequately accommodated within the
designated loading areas.

Page 9

6.18 (d) Impact upon Neighbouring Properties
6.19 There are no residential properties close to the application site. As such, the
proposal would cause no loss of residential amenity. Furthermore, the proposal
would not cause any loss of amenity to adjacent commercial uses.
6.20 (e) Environmental Considerations
6.21 (i) Land Contamination
There is a high risk of contamination at the site due to previous land uses.
Controlled waters are sensitive at the site as it is located in Source Protection
Zone 1 and is positioned upon a principal aquifer. In their assessment of the
previous planning application (reference: 19/00288/FUL), the Environment
Agency stated that the accompanying Ground Investigation Report had shown
that it would be possible to suitably manage the risk posed to controlled waters
by the development and requested a number of conditions be imposed relating
to the submission of a remediation strategy and monitoring. Many of those
proposed conditions were pre-commencement conditions. The Environment
Agency has recommended these same conditions be imposed and these have
been carried forward in this application.
6.22 (ii) Surface Water Drainage Strategy
The applicant has provided sufficient detail to demonstrate that an acceptable
surface water drainage scheme can be provided to mitigate any potential
surface water flood risk. The proposed scheme is based upon attenuation and
restricted discharge at 2l/s via an existing connection to the Thames Water
surface water sewer. The attenuation has been designed for all rainfall events
up to and including the 1 in 100 year event plus 40% for climate change. This
has been approved by the County Council as the Lead Local Flood Authority. A
condition has been requested requiring the submission of a detailed final
surface water drainage scheme for the site based on the approved flood risk
assessment and drainage strategy, alongside a condition to request that a
sustainable drainage management and maintenance plan is submitted for the
SuDs features and drainage network.
7.

Consultation Responses Received

7.1

Statutory Consultees and Other Organisations
Name of Statutory Consultee
Hertfordshire County Council
(Highways Authority)

Comment
No objections to the scheme, subject to the
imposition of a number of informatives.

Page 10

Hertfordshire County Council
(Lead Local Flood Authority)

No objection in principle on flood risk grounds.
The site can be adequately drained and can
mitigate any potential existing surface water
flood risk if carried out in accordance with the
submitted drainage strategy.
Three conditions recommended to be attached
to any grant of planning permission in relation
to the submission of a final detailed drainage
scheme (prior to commencement of works), as
well as the submission of a management and
maintenance plan for the sustainable drainage.
These conditions have been included in the
recommendation at Section 8.

Environment Agency

Comments received regarding potential for
ground contamination and recommendation
that a pre-commencement remediation
condition is attached to any grant of planning
permission. A suite of other conditions have also
been
recommended
in
relation
to
contamination, surface water drainage systems,
any need for any intrusive groundworks and
borehole management.
All of these conditions have been included in the
recommendation at Section 8.

7.2

Internal Consultees
Name of Internal Consultee
Environmental Health

Comment
No objections to the scheme, subject to
conditions and informatives in relation to
contaminated land and one condition in relation
to air quality.
These have been included
recommendation at Section 8.

Page 11

in

the

7.3

Interested Parties
Letters were sent to 19no. properties in the surrounding area.
representations have been received.

8.

No

Recommendation
That planning permission be granted, subject to the conditions and
informatives listed below:
Conditions
1. The development to which this permission relates shall be begun within a
period of three years commencing on the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with
the following approved drawings:
DWF-PL-500 – Proposed Ground Floor Plan and Proposed Roof Plan
DWF-PL-500 – Proposed Elevations
DWF-PL-401 – Block Plan Site Plan
DWF-PL-400 – Site Location Plan
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
3. No development approved by this planning permission shall commence
until a remediation strategy to deal with the risks associated with
contamination of the site has been submitted to, and approved in writing
by, the Local Planning Authority. This strategy will include the following
components:
1) A preliminary risk assessment which has identified:
• All previous uses;
• Potential contaminants associated with those uses;
• A conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and
receptors; and
• Potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the
site.

Page 12

2) A site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide information for
a detailed assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be
affected, including those off site.
3) The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk assessment
referred to in (2) and, based on these, an options appraisal and
remediation strategy giving full details of the remediation measures
required and how they are to be undertaken.
4) A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected
in order to demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation
strategy in (3) are complete and identifying any requirements for
longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and
arrangements for contingency action.
Any changes to these components require the written consent of the local
planning authority. The scheme shall be implemented as approved.
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of
the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to
workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.
4. No development shall commence until a monitoring and maintenance plan
in respect of contamination, including a timetable of monitoring and
submission of reports to the Local Planning Authority, has been submitted
to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. Reports as
specified in the approved plan, including details of any necessary
contingency action arising from the monitoring, shall be submitted to, and
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that the site does not pose any further risk to human
health or the water environment by managing any ongoing contamination
issues and completing all necessary long-term remediation measures, in
accordance with saved Policy SE24 of the Watford District Plan 2000 and
Paragraph 170 of the NPPF, 2019.
5. No development shall commence until the final design of the drainage
scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The surface water drainage system will be based on the
approved Flood Risk Assessment & SUDS Strategy at Dhamecha Foods,

Page 13

Imperial Way, Watford prepared by Jomas & Associates, dated December
2020 (Version 1.0, Ref: reference P1851J1558). The scheme shall also :
1. Include detailed engineered drawings of all the proposed SuDS
features including their location, size, volume, depth and any inlet
and outlet features including any connecting pipe runs and all
corresponding calculations/modelling to ensure the scheme caters
for all rainfall events up to and including the 1 in 100 year + 40%
allowance for climate change event.
2. Demonstrate an appropriate SuDS management and treatment train
and inclusion of above ground features such as permeable paving
etc. and ensure appropriate management and treatment of the car
parking areas.
Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding, both on and off site, by
ensuring the satisfactory storage and disposal of surface water from the
site.
6. No development shall commence until a scheme for managing any
borehole installed for the investigation of soils, groundwater or
geotechnical purposes is submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local
planning authority. The scheme shall provide details of how redundant
boreholes are to be decommissioned and how any boreholes that need to
be retained post-development, for monitoring purposes will be secured,
protected and inspected. The scheme as approved shall be implemented
prior to the occupation of any part of the permitted development. No
boreholes should be decommissioned until it has been agreed in writing by
the local planning authority that they are no longer required.
Reason: To ensure that a sufficient monitoring network is maintained and
that redundant boreholes are safe and secure and do not cause
groundwater pollution or loss of water supplies in line with Paragraph 170
of the NPPF, 2019.
7. Before any part of the development hereby permitted is commenced, an
air quality assessment / survey shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. No part of the development hereby
approved shall be commenced until after a statement of method and extent
in order to mitigate / minimise the effects of air pollution has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Thereafter the proposed development shall not be constructed other than
in accordance with the details agreed under this condition.

Page 14

Reason: This condition is necessary due to the nature of the development
and in order to safeguard the amenities of the locality.
8. No construction works above ground level shall be carried out until details
of the materials to be used for the external surfaces of the development
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The development shall only be carried out in accordance with
the approved details.
Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the site, pursuant to
Policy UD1 of the Watford Local Plan Core Strategy 2006 - 31.
9. No piling or any other foundation designs using penetrative methods shall
be carried out until a piling method statement (detailing the depth and type
of piling to be undertaken and the methodology by which such piling will be
carried out and the programme for the works) has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The piling method
statement must incorporate measures to demonstrate that there will be no
resultant unacceptable risk to groundwater. Any piling must be undertaken
in accordance with the approved piling method statement.
Reason: To protect the water environment, including groundwater, and any
underground sewerage infrastructure, in accordance with saved Policy
SE24 of the Watford District Plan 2000.
10. If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to
be present at the site then no further development (unless otherwise
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority) shall be carried out until
a remediation strategy detailing how this contamination will be dealt with
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved.
Reason: To ensure that the development does not contribute to and is not
put at unacceptable risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels
of water pollution from previously unidentified contamination sources at
the development site, in accordance with saved Policy SE24 of the Watford
District Plan 2000 and Paragraph 170 of the NPPF, 2019.
11. No infiltration of surface water drainage into the ground at the site shall
take place other than with the express written consent of the Local Planning
Authority, which may be given for those parts of the site where it has been
demonstrated that there is no resultant unacceptable risk to controlled

Page 15

waters. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the development does not contribute to and is not
put at unacceptable risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels
of water pollution caused by mobilised contaminants, in accordance with
saved Policy SE24 of the Watford District Plan 2000 and Paragraph 170 of
the NPPF, 2019.
12. Prior to any part of the permitted development being brought into use, a
verification report demonstrating the completion of works set out in the
approved remediation strategy and the effectiveness of the remediation
shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning
authority. The report shall include results of sampling and monitoring
carried out in accordance with the approved verification plan to
demonstrate that the site remediation criteria have been met.
Reason: To ensure that the site does not pose any further risk to human
health or the water environment by demonstrating that the requirements
of the approved verification plan have been met and that remediation of
the site is complete, in accordance with saved Policy SE24 of the Watford
District Plan 2000 and Paragraph 170 of the NPPF, 2019.
13. The development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried out
in accordance with the Flood Risk Assessment and SUDS Strategy at
Dhamecha Foods, Imperial Way, Watford by Jomas and Associates (dated
December 2020, version 1.0, reference P1851J1558) and the following
mitigation measures:
1. Provide attenuation to ensure no increase in surface water run-off
volumes for all rainfall events up to and including the 1 in 100 year +
40% climate change event.
2. Implement drainage strategy based on restricted surface water
discharge at 2l/s and include permeable paving with sub-base and
geocellular storage.
Reason: To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory disposal and
storage of surface water from the site and to reduce the risk of flooding to
the proposed development and future occupants.
14. Upon completion of the drainage works for the site in accordance with the
timing/phasing arrangements, a management and maintenance plan for
the SuDs features and drainage network must be submitted to, and

Page 16

approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall
include:
1. Provision of a complete set of as built drawings for site drainage
2. Maintenance and operational activities
3. Arrangements for adoption and any other measures to secure the
operation of the scheme throughout its lifetime
Reason: To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage
of/disposal of surface water from the site.
15. The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until the new onsite car parking spaces and manoeuvring areas have been constructed and
laid out in accordance with approved drawing no. DFW/PL/500 (or any
subsequent drawing submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority). The vehicular access and on-site car parking spaces and
manoeuvring areas shall be retained at all times thereafter unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to ensure that sufficient onsite parking spaces are provided.
16. The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until refuse,
recycling and cycle storage has been provided in accordance with the
approved plans. The storage facilities shall be retained at all times
thereafter.
Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the site and to ensure
satisfactory provision for on-site cycle storage facilities.
17. The units hereby approved shall be solely used for light industrial purposes
and for no other purpose (including any purpose in Class E of the Schedule
to the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) (Amendment) (England)
Regulations 2020, or in any provision equivalent to that Class in any
statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without
modification).
Reason: To accord with the employment designation of the land and the
details of the submitted application.

Page 17

Informatives
1. IN907 - Positive and proactive statement - GRANT
2. IN910 - Building Regulations
3. IN912 - Hours of Construction
4. IN909 - Street Name and Numbering
5. IN913 - Community Infrastructure Level Liability
6. HIGH – Storage of Materials – Highway
7. OBSHIG – Obstruction of the Highway
8. MUD – Mud on Highway
9. Advice from the Environment Agency

Page 18

Page 19
Site Location Plan / Red Line Plan

Page 20
Aerial View
(N.B: Trees on Imperial Way frontage have since been removed

Page 21
Proposed Site Layout Plan

Page 22
Proposed Front Elevation

Agenda Item 5

Committee date
Application reference
Site address
Proposal
Applicant
Agent
Type of Application
Reason for
committee Item
Target decision date
Statutory publicity
Case officer
Ward
1.

Wednesday, 14 April 2021
21/00159/VARM Integrity House 3 Rhodes Way Watford
WD24 4YW
Variation of condition 2 (changes to approved plans) of
planning permission 20/00509/FULM
CL2017 Ltd
Contour Planning Services Ltd
Variation of Condition to a Major Planning Permission
Major Development
07 May2021
Paper Advertisement, Site Notice and Neighbour Letters
Alice Reade, alice.reade@watford.gov.uk
Tudor

Recommendation
Grant planning permission subject to conditions detailed in section 8 of the
report.

2.

Site and surroundings

2.1

The existing site contains the fire damaged building of the former laundry
premises (Use Class B1 (c)) With a Gross Internal Area of 2500sqm. The site is
located within the Colonial Way Employment Area.

2.2

The site is not within a conservation area and does not encompass any listed
buildings.

2.3

The site has a notable ground level change to adjacent sites including an 8m
drop down to the site from the residential properties to the south west.

2.4

Due to the previous uses of the site and the fire there are potential
contaminants on site.

3.

Summary of the proposal

3.1

Proposal

3.2

To vary the drawings approved by application 20/00509/FULM to allow for
amendments as follows:

Page 23






Internal layout of the building for positioning of equipment
Minor external alterations following internal changes
Amendments to layout of front parking/servicing area
Installation of vehicular access gates

3.3

Conclusion
The amendments proposed in the revised plans are minor in nature. The
development remains in providing efficient use of employment land in the
creation of a purpose built laundry building. As such, the proposed
development remains fully in accordance with the policy and objectives for
the designated employment area and would create no new or increased
adverse impacts to amenity, highway safety or neighbouring premises.

4.

Relevant policies
Members should refer to the background papers attached to the agenda.
These highlight the policy framework under which this application is
determined. Specific policy considerations with regard to this particular
application are detailed in section 6 below.

5.

Relevant site history/background information
App Number

Proposal

Status

11/00374/FUL

Change of use from
Storage/Distribution (class
B8) back to Light Industrial
(Class B1 C ) as building was
originally.
Part
demolition
and
rebuild of existing laundry
and office premises
Pre-application enquiry
for demolition of fire
damaged building and
associated office and
erection of replacement
commercial laundry with
associated works.
Prior approval for the
demolition of existing fire
damaged warehouse and
associated 2 storey office

CPP

Decision
Date
01.06.2011

CPP

10.01.2020

Advice
provided

05.03.2020

Prior
approval
not
required

20.03.2020

19/00532/FUL

20/00054/PREAPP

20/00262/DEM

Page 24

20/00509/FULM

20/01400/DISCON

building down to existing
slab level.
Erection of replacement
commercial laundry (Use
Class B1C) with associated
office and ancillary works
Details submitted for
Condition
6
(Contaminated Land Risk
Assessment) pursuant to
planning
permission
20/00509/FULM

CPP

03.09.2020

Details
refused

02.02.2021

6.

Main considerations

6.1

This variation of condition application only considers matters where this
proposal differs from the consented scheme. The principle of the
development, the scale of the building, the impact on surrounding properties
and environmental considerations are unchanged and remain acceptable as
discussed in the report for the original application 20/00509/FULM which is
attached as Appendix 1 to this report.

6.2

The main issues to be considered in the determination of this application are:
(a) Design, scale and layout
(b) Access, parking, servicing and traffic generation
(c) Impact to neighbouring properties

6.3

(a) Design, scale and layout
The position, scale and height of the building are unchanged from the
previously approved scheme. The alterations to the external appearance of
the building are minor and remain appropriate in design and appearance for
the nature of the building.

6.4

(b) Access, parking, servicing and traffic generation
The front servicing area is amended in layout, however, retains appropriate
car parking, cycle storage, bin/refuse storage and servicing/delivery facilities.
The new access gates would be appropriately located within the site and
would not create overhanging to the highway.

6.5

(c) Impact to neighbouring properties
The amendments would not create any new or increased adverse impact to
neighbouring occupiers.

Page 25

7.
7.1

Consultation responses received
Consultee
Environmental
Agency

Comment Summary
No response received.

Hertfordshire Lead
Local Flood
Authority (LLFA)
HCC Highways

No objection.

Environmental
Health

7.2

No material affect noted
and no objection.
No response received.

Officer Response
No significant changes to
previous approved scheme and
same conditions added.
Noted and previous conditions
added.
Noted.
No significant changes proposed
to this scheme in respect of
noise/odour matters.

Interested parties
Letters were sent to 25 properties in the surrounding area including the
Norbury Avenue properties which back onto the site. No objections have
been received.

8.

Recommendation
That planning permission be granted subject to the conditions listed below:
Conditions
1.

The development to which this permission relates shall be begun
before 3rd September 2023.
Reason: To comply with the time period for commencement of the
original planning permission 20/00509/FULM and to comply with the
requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase
Act 2004.

2.

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following
drawings, unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The following drawings are hereby approved:
18019-TP-001
18019-TP-002

Page 26

18019-TP-003
18019-TP-004
18019-TP-005 Rev C
18019-TP-006 Rev B
18019-TP-007 Rev B
18019-TP-008 Rev C
18019-TP-009 Rev A
18019-TP-010 Rev B
18019-TP-011 Rev B
18019-TP-012 Rev B
18019-TP-013 Rev B
18019-TP-014 Rev B
18019-TP-015 Rev B
18019-TP-016
18019- Materials finishes Rev A
18019-SK-025 Rev B
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt as to what has been permitted and
in the interests of proper planning.
3.

The external surfaces of the development shall be finished in the
materials as specified on approved drawings and in document ‘18019Materials finishes Rev A’ unless otherwise agreed in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the building and
the character and appearance of the area, in accordance with Policy
UD1 of the Watford Local Plan Core Strategy 2006-31.

4.

Prior to the commencement of the site works the applicant shall submit
a construction management plan setting out details of any demolition
works, removal of materials from site, parking for all contractors, subcontractors, visitors and delivery vehicles and storage of materials to be
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and those
measures approved shall be maintained available for use at all times
during the period of site works.
Reason:- To minimise danger, obstruction and inconvenience to users
of the highway

5.

Three Months prior to full use of the permitted development, a
detailed Travel Plan for the site, based upon the Hertfordshire County
Council document “Hertfordshire Travel Plan Guidance” and applicant’s

Page 27

framework Travel Plan, shall be submitted and approved in writing by
the local planning authority. The approved Travel Plan shall always be
implemented.
Reason: To ensure that sustainable travel options associated with the
development are promoted and maximised with the policies of
Hertfordshire Local Transport Plan adopted in 2018.
6.

No development approved by this planning permission shall commence
until a remediation strategy to deal with the risks associated with
contamination of the site in respect of the development hereby
permitted, has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local
planning authority. This strategy will include the following components:
1. A site investigation scheme, based on (the submitted report:
Phase 1 Contamination Assessment (MLM, reference: 777853MLM-ZZ-XX-RP-J-0001, 08/07/2019) to provide information for a
detailed assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be
affected, including those off-site.
2. The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk
assessment referred to in (1) and, based on these, an options
appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details of the
remediation measures required and how they are to be
undertaken.
3. A verification plan providing details of the data that will be
collected in order to demonstrate that the works set out in the
remediation strategy in (2) are complete and identifying any
requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages,
maintenance and arrangements for contingency action.
Any changes to these components require the written consent of the
local planning authority. The scheme shall be implemented as
approved.
Reason: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, and is
not put at unacceptable risk from or adversely affected by,
unacceptable levels of water pollution in line with paragraph 170 of the
National Planning Policy Framework and to prevent deterioration and
promote recovery of water quality within the Mid Chilterns WFD
groundwater body.

7.

Prior to any part of the permitted development being brought into use,
a verification report demonstrating the completion of works set out in

Page 28

the approved remediation strategy and the effectiveness of the
remediation shall be submitted to, and approved in writing, by the local
planning authority. The report shall include results of sampling and
monitoring carried out in accordance with the approved verification
plan to demonstrate that the site remediation criteria have been met.
Reason: To ensure that the site does not pose any further risk to
human health or the water environment by demonstrating that the
requirements of the approved verification plan have been met and that
remediation of the site is complete. This is in line with paragraph 170 of
the National Planning Policy Framework and to prevent deterioration
and promote recovery of water quality within the Mid Chilterns WFD
groundwater body.
8.

The development hereby permitted shall not commence until a
monitoring and maintenance plan in respect of contamination,
including a timetable of monitoring and submission of reports to the
local planning authority, has been submitted to, and approved in
writing by, the local planning authority. Reports as specified in the
approved plan, including details of any necessary contingency action
arising from the monitoring, shall be submitted to, and approved in
writing by, the local planning authority.
Reason: To ensure that the site does not pose any further risk to
human health or the water environment by managing any ongoing
contamination issues and completing all necessary long-term
remediation measures. This is in line with paragraph 170 of the
National Planning Policy Framework.
- To prevent deterioration and promote recovery of water quality
within the Mid Chilterns WFD groundwater body.

9.

If, during development, contamination not previously identified is
found to be present at the site then no further development (unless
otherwise agreed in writing with the local planning authority) shall be
carried out until a remediation strategy detailing how this
contamination will be dealt with has been submitted to, and approved
in writing by, the local planning authority. The remediation strategy
shall be implemented as approved.
Reason: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, and is
not put at unacceptable risk from or adversely affected by,
unacceptable levels of water pollution from previously unidentified
contamination sources at the development site in accordance with

Page 29

paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework and to
prevent deterioration and promote recovery of water quality within the
Mid Chilterns WFD groundwater body.
10.

No drainage systems for the infiltration of surface water to the ground
are permitted other than with the written consent of the local planning
authority. Any proposals for such systems must be supported by an
assessment of the risks to controlled waters. The development shall be
carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, and is
not put at unacceptable risk from or adversely affected by,
unacceptable levels of water pollution caused by mobilised
contaminants, in accordance with paragraph 170 of the National
Planning Policy Framework and to prevent deterioration and promote
recovery of water quality within the Mid Chilterns WFD groundwater
body.

11.

Piling, deep foundations or other intrusive groundworks (investigation
boreholes/tunnel shafts/ground source heating and cooling systems)
using penetrative methods shall not be carried out other than with the
written consent of the local planning authority. The development shall
be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the proposed Piling, deep foundations or other
intrusive groundworks (investigation boreholes/tunnel shafts/ground
source heating and cooling systems) using does not harm groundwater
resources in accordance with paragraph 170 of the National Planning
Policy Framework.

12.

A scheme for managing any borehole installed for the investigation of
soils, groundwater or geotechnical purposes shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall
provide details of how redundant boreholes are to be decommissioned
and how any boreholes that need to be retained, post-development,
for monitoring purposes will be secured, protected and inspected. The
scheme as approved shall be implemented prior to the occupation of
any part of the permitted development.
Reason: To ensure that redundant boreholes are safe and secure, and
do not cause groundwater pollution or loss of water supplies in line
with paragraph 109 of the National Planning Policy Framework; to
prevent deterioration and promote recovery of water quality within the

Page 30

Mid Chilterns WFD groundwater body and to ensure that a sufficient
monitoring network is maintained to allow for the completion any
monitoring required to demonstrate as part of any verification plan, to
demonstrate “betterment” or that no deterioration has occurred.
13.

Prior to the commencement of development approved by this planning
permission (or such other date or stage in development as may be
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority), the following
components of a scheme to deal with the risks associated with
contamination of the site shall each be submitted to and approved, in
writing, by the local planning authority:
i) A site investigation scheme, based on the Phase 1 Contamination
Assessment prepared by MLM Consulting Engineers Limited (Report ref.
777853-MLM-ZZ-XX-RP-J-0001), to provide information for a detailed
assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including
those off site. This should include an assessment of the potential risks
to: human health, property (existing or proposed) including buildings,
crops, pests, woodland and service lines and pipes, adjoining land,
ground waters and surface waters, ecological systems, archaeological
sites and ancient monuments.
ii) The site investigation results and the detailed risk assessment (ii) and,
based on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full
details of the remediation measures required and how they are to be
undertaken.
iii) A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected
in order to demonstrate that the works set out in (ii) are complete and
identifying any requirements for longer term monitoring of pollutant
linkages, maintenance and arrangements for contingency action. Any
changes to these components require the express consent of the local
planning authority. The scheme shall be implemented as approved.
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users
of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that
the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to
workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.

14.

Following completion of measures identified in the approved
remediation scheme and prior to the first use or occupation of the
development, a verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness

Page 31

of the remediation carried out must be produced together with any
necessary monitoring and maintenance programme and copies of any
waste transfer notes relating to exported and imported soils shall be
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval. The approved
monitoring and maintenance programme shall be implemented. The
above must be undertaken in accordance with DEFRA and the
Environment Agency’s ‘Model Procedures for the Management of Land
Contamination, CLR 11’.
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users
of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that
the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to
workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.
15.

In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out
the approved development that was not previously identified it must be
reported in writing immediately to the Local Planning Authority. An
investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in accordance
with the requirements of condition 13, and where remediation is
necessary a remediation scheme must be prepared in accordance with
the requirements of condition 13, which is subject to the approval in
writing of the Local Planning Authority. Following completion of
measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a verification
report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of
the Local Planning Authority in accordance with condition 1.
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users
of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that
the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to
workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.

16.

Noise emitted from operations within the site, measured as a Rating
Level in accordance with BS4142 'Method for rating industrial noise
affecting mixed residential and industrial areas' at the boundaries of
the nearby residential premises, shall not exceed the background LA90
noise level that would otherwise prevail in the absence of noise from
the site by more than 5dB(A).
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not materially
prejudice the amenity of the surrounding premises in accordance with
saved Policy SE22 of the Watford District Plan 2000.

Page 32

17.

Prior to occupation of the new development, secure and weatherproof
cycle storage shall be installed in the site in accordance with approved
drawing 18019-TP-005.
Reason: To ensure that secure and weatherproof cycle storage facilities
are provided for employees and visitors in accordance with saved Policy
T10 of the Watford District Plan 2000 and Policy UD1 of the Watford
Local Plan Core Strategy 2006-31.

18.

No part of the development shall be occupied until a detailed soft
landscaping scheme for the site, including details of an appropriate
irrigation systems, and a landscape management and maintenance plan,
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The detailed scheme shall be based upon the Landscape
Proposals of the approved drawings. The approved soft landscaping
scheme shall be carried out not later than the first available planting and
seeding season after completion of development. Any trees or plants
whether new or existing which within a period of five years die, are
removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in
the next planting season with others of similar size and species, or in
accordance with details approved by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the site and the
wider area, in accordance with Policy UD1 of the Watford Local Plan Core
Strategy 2006-31.

Informatives
IN907 Consideration of proposal in a positive and proactive manner
IN910 Building Regulations
IN912 Hours of Construction

Page 33

Committee date
Application reference
Site address
Proposal
Applicant
Agent
Type of Application
Reason for
committee Item
Target decision date
Statutory publicity
Case officer
Ward
1.

Wednesday, 2 September 2020
20/00509/FULM 3 Rhodes Way, Watford WD24 4YW
Erection of replacement commercial laundry (Use Class
B1C) with associated office and ancillary works
CL2017 Ltd
Contour Planning Services Ltd
Major Full Planning Permission
Major Full Planning Permission
25th August 2020 Extended by agreement to 3rd
September 2020
Site Notice and paper advert with overall expiry of 6th
June 2020
Alice Reade, alice.reade@watford.gov.uk
Tudor

Recommendation
Grant planning permission subject to conditions detailed in section 8 of the
report.

2.

Site and surroundings

2.1

The existing site contains the fire damaged building of the former Laundry
premises (Use Class B1 (c). GIA of 2500sqm. The site is located within the
Colonial Way Employment Area.

2.2

The site is not within a Conservation Area and does not encompass any Listed
Buildings.

2.3

The site has a notable ground level change to adjacent sites including an 8m
drop down to the site from the residential properties to the south west.

2.4

Due to the previous uses of the site and the fire there are potential
contaminants on site.

3

Summary of the proposal

3.1

Proposal

3.2

Demolition of the existing fire damaged laundry building of 2500sqm (Use

Page 34

Class B1(c)) and replacement with a commercial laundry with ancillary office.
Proposed floor area totalling 4802sqm of Use Class B1(c) space.
3.3

Building to comprise 2 internal storeys of production/warehouse space with
external height of 15m. External materials to comprise a grey masonry plinth,
white cladding, glazing and metal detailing.

3.4

Conclusion

3.5

The proposal would make more efficient use of employment land creating a
purpose built laundry building. As such, the proposed development is fully in
accordance with the policy and objectives for the designated employment
area.

3.6

The development would provide sufficient on-site parking and would not
create adverse impact to highway safety or adverse harm to the amenities of
residential occupiers to the south west of the site.

4.

Relevant policies

4.1

Members should refer to the background papers attached to the agenda.
These highlight the policy framework under which this application is
determined. Specific policy considerations with regard to this particular
application are detailed in section 6 below.

5.

Relevant site history/background information
App Number

Proposal

Status

11/00374/FUL

Change of use from
Storage/Distribution (class B8)
back to Light Industrial (Class B1
C ) as building was originally.
Part demolition and rebuild
of existing laundry and office
premises
Pre-application enquiry for
demolition of fire damaged
building and associated
office and erection of
replacement
commercial
laundry with associated
works.

CPP

Decision
Date
01.06.2011

CPP

10.01.2020

Advice
provided

05.03.2020

19/00532/FUL

20/00054/PREA
PP

Page 35

20/00262/DEM

Prior approval for the
demolition of existing fire
damaged warehouse and
associated 2 storey office
building down to existing
slab level.

Prior
approval
not
required

20.03.2020

6.

Main considerations

6.1

The main issues to be considered in the determination of these applications
are:
(a) Principle of use
(b) Design, scale and layout
(c) Access, parking and traffic generation
(d) Impact on neighbouring properties
(e) Environmental matters

6.2

(a) Principle of use
The use of the premises as light industrial (Use Class B1(c)) is unchanged from
the existing and remains suitable for the site and employment area
designation.

6.3

The proposed development will increase the existing employment floorspace
on the site by 92% from 2500m2 to 4802m2. This increase of quantum and
quality of light industrial floorspace within the employment area is compliant
with the employment designation policy of the area and is fully supported in
principle.

6.4

(b) Design, scale and layout

6.5

The Business Park includes predominantly 2 and 3 storey buildings of varying
commercial uses and designs. The proposed development would be of a scale
and design suitable and in keeping with this context. The materiality and
detailing of the building will create a suitably finished building for the context.

6.6

(c) Access, parking and traffic generation
i) Access
The existing access arrangement to the site would not be altered. The site
would include an enlarged parking and servicing area at the north side of the
building. Arrangement will allow for vehicles to continue to enter and leave
the site in forward gear.

Page 36

6.7

ii) Parking
The application proposes to increase the on-site parking provision from 11
vehicles to 15 car parking spaces and 6 light goods/operational vehicles.

6.8

The Watford District Plan 2000 identifies the site within Zone 4 of the Car and
Cycle Parking Zone Map. As set by ‘saved’ Policy T22 and Appendix 2 of the
plan, the maximum parking provision for the proposed development, based
on floor areas proposed, would be 135 car parking spaces. The proposed
provision for 21 vehicles spaces would be well below the maximum guidance
and would not create excessive journeys to the site. Proposed bike storage
facilities would also facilitate non-car travel options.

6.9

iii) Servicing and deliveries
The redevelopment and intensification of use on the site would see increased
operational vehicle journeys to and from the site. As detailed in the transport
assessment, this would not be materially harmful to the highway.

6.10

(d) Impact on neighbouring properties
Although the site is within an employment area, dwellings of Norbury Avenue
back on to the south-west of the site. The development will see a notably
taller building on site from the existing, however, due to the relative distance,
orientation and ground level changes in the area, the building would not
create harm to the dwellings. Specifically, the site is on ground level
approximately 8m below the dwellings meaning that only approximately half
of the building height would be above ground level relative to the dwellings.
The building is also a minimum of 8.5m from the boundary to the dwellings
and is positioned to the north east from these dwellings. As such the building
would not create unreasonable loss of light or outlook to the rear of the
dwellings.

6.11

The south and west elevations of the building do not include any glazing and
so would not create overlooking to the neighbouring residential properties.

6.12

The premises has been in use as a laundry following the 2011 permission. The
replacement building would approximately double the floor space of the
previous laundry and allow an intensification of use at the premises. However,
the use, machinery and associated noise from this use would not have
changed. The site layout also remains in retaining the access, delivery and
servicing areas for the building on the north-eastern side of the building. This
area therefore remains as being on the opposite side of the building to the
residential properties at a significantly lower ground level and behind an 8m

Page 37

high retaining wall. As such, it is not considered that the development would
create any new or notably increased noise impact. A condition preventing
excess noise, as was applied to the 2011 permission is again recommended for
this permission.
6.13

(e) Environmental matters
i) Contamination
The site’s previous uses and the fire result in the potential for land
contamination. A Phase 1 assessment has been submitted. The Environment
Agency (EA) and Council Environmental Health officers recommended
conditions to prevent contamination issues which are added. Noted that there
is some overlap between the conditions however as the EA and Council’s
Contamination officer are concerned with different contamination issues, this
is appropriate for some duplication.
ii) Surface water drainage strategy
The Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) lodged an objection advising that they
required further details to support the development. This detail has been
provided by the applicant and the Lead Local Flood Authority have been
reconsulted. Their response will be provided in the update sheet prior to the
committee meeting. In any case, it is envisaged that this matter can be
overcome by way of a suitably word condition if the LLFA are still not satisfied
with the level of detail provided.
iii) Waste and recycling
Appropriate waste and recycling is included in the scheme and swept path
analysis shows that this will be accessible to bin lorries.
iv) Trees and landscaping
The site includes 2 groups of relatively young trees which have a limited
amenity value and which are not protected. The loss of these trees is
therefore acceptable to allow the development. Three replacement trees are
shown at the front entrance of the site however a landscaping scheme is
required by condition to secure appropriate replacement trees and soft
landscaping.

7.

Consultation responses received

7.1

Statutory consultees and other organisations
Consultee
Environmental
Agency

Comment Summary
Initial objection due to
lack of information.

Page 38

Officer Response
Noted and conditions added.

Hertfordshire Lead
Local Flood
Authority (LLFA)

HCC Highways

HCC Growth and
Infrastructure
Thames Water
Utilities
Crime Prevention
7.2

However, this was
provided and EA
withdrew their objection
subject to conditions.
Initial objection in respect New information has been
of lack of surface water
received and sent to the flood
drainage strategy.
team. We are awaiting response
and this will be provided in the
update sheet for the meeting.
No objection subject to
Noted and conditions added.
conditions.
Additional details were provided
in respect of highway condition 1
(Construction management).
Highways have been reconsulted
in respect of this however a
response from Highways has not
been received at the time of
writing this report and the
condition remains
recommended.
Response provided with
Noted
no comments.
No comments received
No objection

Internal Consultees
Consultee
Environmental Health

WBC Contamination
Economic Development
Manager

Comment Summary
Odour details are acceptable.
Noise to neighbours – there
could be further details.
Internal noise to office
workers could be an issue
Fire protection measures
suggested.
No objections subject to
conditions.
No comments

Page 39

Officer Response
Noted and discussed in
the main body of the
report.

Noted and conditions
added.

7.3

Interested parties
Letters were sent to 25 properties in the surrounding area including the
Norbury Avenue properties which back onto the site. No objections have
been received.

8.

Recommendation
Conditions
That conditional planning permission be granted subject to the conditions
listed below:
Conditions
1.

Time Limit
The development to which this permission relates shall be begun within
a period of three years commencing on the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2.

Drawing numbers
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following
drawings, unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The following drawings are hereby approved:
18019-TP-001
18019-TP-002
18019-TP-003
18019-TP-004
18019-TP-005
18019-TP-006
18019-TP-007
18019-TP-008 Rev A
18019-TP-009
18019-TP-010 Rev A
18019-TP-011 Rev A
18019-TP-012
18019-TP-013
18019-TP-014
18019-TP-015

Page 40

18019-TP-016
18019- Materials finishes
18019-SK-025 Rev B
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt as to what has been permitted and
in the interests of proper planning.
3.

Materials
The external surfaces of the development shall be finished in the
materials as specified on approved drawings and in document ‘18019Materials finishes’ unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the building and
the character and appearance of the area, in accordance with Policy
UD1 of the Watford Local Plan Core Strategy 2006-31.

4.

Highways Condition 1- Construction Management Plan
Prior to the commencement of the site works the applicant shall submit
a construction management plan setting out details of any demolition
works, removal of materials from site, parking for all contractors, subcontractors, visitors and delivery vehicles and storage of materials to be
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with
the Highway Authority and those measures approved shall be
maintained available for use at all times during the period of site works.
Reason:- To minimise danger, obstruction and inconvenience to users
of the highway

5.

Highways Condition 2- Travel Plan
Three Months prior to full use of the permitted development, a
detailed Travel Plan for the site, based upon the Hertfordshire County
Council document “Hertfordshire Travel Plan Guidance” and applicant’s
framework Travel Plan, shall be submitted and approved in writing by
the local planning authority in consultation with the Highway Authority.
The approved Travel Plan shall always be implemented.
Reason: To ensure that sustainable travel options associated with the
development are promoted and maximised with the policies of
Hertfordshire Local Transport Plan adopted in 2018.

Page 41

6.

EA Condition 1 – Remediation
No development approved by this planning permission shall commence
until a remediation strategy to deal with the risks associated with
contamination of the site in respect of the development hereby
permitted, has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local
planning authority. This strategy will include the following components:
1. A site investigation scheme, based on (the submitted report:
Phase 1 Contamination Assessment (MLM, reference: 777853MLM-ZZ-XX-RP-J-0001, 08/07/2019) to provide information for a
detailed assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be
affected, including those off-site.
2. The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk
assessment referred to in (1) and, based on these, an options
appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details of the
remediation measures required and how they are to be
undertaken.
3. A verification plan providing details of the data that will be
collected in order to demonstrate that the works set out in the
remediation strategy in (2) are complete and identifying any
requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages,
maintenance and arrangements for contingency action.
Any changes to these components require the written consent of the
local planning authority. The scheme shall be implemented as
approved.
Reasons:
- To ensure that the development does not contribute to, and is not put
at unacceptable risk from or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels
of water pollution in line with paragraph 170 of the National Planning
Policy Framework.
- To prevent deterioration and promote recovery of water quality
within the Mid Chilterns WFD groundwater body.

7.

EA Condition 2 – Verification
Prior to any part of the permitted development being brought into use,
a verification report demonstrating the completion of works set out in
the approved remediation strategy and the effectiveness of the
remediation shall be submitted to, and approved in writing, by the local
planning authority. The report shall include results of sampling and
monitoring carried out in accordance with the approved verification
plan to demonstrate that the site remediation criteria have been met.

Page 42

Reasons:
- To ensure that the site does not pose any further risk to human health
or the water environment by demonstrating that the requirements of
the approved verification plan have been met and that remediation of
the site is complete. This is in line with paragraph 170 of the National
Planning Policy Framework.
- To prevent deterioration and promote recovery of water quality
within the Mid Chilterns WFD groundwater body.
8.

EA Condition 3 – Monitoring and maintenance
The development hereby permitted shall not commence until a
monitoring and maintenance plan in respect of contamination,
including a timetable of monitoring and submission of reports to the
local planning authority, has been submitted to, and approved in
writing by, the local planning authority. Reports as specified in the
approved plan, including details of any necessary contingency action
arising from the monitoring, shall be submitted to, and approved in
writing by, the local planning authority.
Reasons:
- To ensure that the site does not pose any further risk to human health
or the water environment by managing any ongoing contamination
issues and completing all necessary long-term remediation measures.
This is in line with paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy
Framework.
- To prevent deterioration and promote recovery of water quality
within the Mid Chilterns WFD groundwater body.

9.

EA Condition 4 – Unexpected contamination
If, during development, contamination not previously identified is
found to be present at the site then no further development (unless
otherwise agreed in writing with the local planning authority) shall be
carried out until a remediation strategy detailing how this
contamination will be dealt with has been submitted to, and approved
in writing by, the local planning authority. The remediation strategy
shall be implemented as approved.
Reasons:
To ensure that the development does not contribute to, and is
not put at unacceptable risk from or adversely affected by,
unacceptable levels of water pollution from previously unidentified
contamination sources at the development site. This is in line with
paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

Page 43

- To prevent deterioration and promote recovery of water quality
within the Mid Chilterns WFD groundwater body.
10.

EA Condition 5 – Drainage systems
No drainage systems for the infiltration of surface water to the ground
are permitted other than with the written consent of the local planning
authority. Any proposals for such systems must be supported by an
assessment of the risks to controlled waters. The development shall be
carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reasons:
- To ensure that the development does not contribute to, and is not put
at unacceptable risk from or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels
of water pollution caused by mobilised contaminants. This is in line
with paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework.
- To prevent deterioration and promote recovery of water quality
within the Mid Chilterns WFD groundwater body.

11.

EA Condition 6 – Piling
Piling, deep foundations or other intrusive groundworks (investigation
boreholes/tunnel shafts/ground source heating and cooling systems)
using penetrative methods shall not be carried out other than with the
written consent of the local planning authority. The development shall
be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reasons
To ensure that the proposed Piling, deep foundations or other intrusive
groundworks (investigation boreholes/tunnel shafts/ground source
heating and cooling systems) using does not harm groundwater
resources in line with paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy
Framework.

12.

EA Condition 7 – Boreholes
A scheme for managing any borehole installed for the investigation of
soils, groundwater or geotechnical purposes shall be submitted to and
approved in writing bythe local planning authority. The scheme shall
provide details of how redundant boreholes are to be decommissioned
and how any boreholes that need to be retained, post-development,
for monitoring purposes will be secured, protected and inspected. The
scheme as approved shall be implemented prior to the occupation of
any part of the permitted development.

Page 44

Reasons:
- To ensure that redundant boreholes are safe and secure, and do not
cause groundwater pollution or loss of water supplies in line with
paragraph 109 of the National Planning Policy Framework.
- To prevent deterioration and promote recovery of water quality
within the Mid Chilterns WFD groundwater body.
- To ensure that a sufficient monitoring network is maintained to
allow for the completion any monitoring required to demonstrate
as part of any verification plan, to demonstrate “betterment” or
that no deterioration has occurred.
13.

EH Contamination 1 – Remediation
Prior to the commencement of development approved by this planning
permission (or such other date or stage in development as may be
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority), the following
components of a scheme to deal with the risks associated with
contamination of the site shall each be submitted to and approved, in
writing, by the local planning authority:
i) A site investigation scheme, based on the Phase 1 Contamination
Assessment prepared by MLM Consulting Engineers Limited (Report ref.
777853-MLM-ZZ-XX-RP-J-0001), to provide information for a detailed
assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including
those off site. This should include an assessment of the potential risks
to: human health, property (existing or proposed) including buildings,
crops, pests, woodland and service lines and pipes, adjoining land,
ground waters and surface waters, ecological systems, archaeological
sites and ancient monuments.
ii) The site investigation results and the detailed risk assessment (ii) and,
based on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full
details of the remediation measures required and how they are to be
undertaken.
iii) A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected
in order to demonstrate that the works set out in (ii) are complete and
identifying any requirements for longer term monitoring of pollutant
linkages, maintenance and arrangements for contingency action. Any
changes to these components require the express consent of the local
planning authority. The scheme shall be implemented as approved.
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users
of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to

Page 45

controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that
the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to
workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.
14.

EH Contamination 2- Verification
Following completion of measures identified in the approved
remediation scheme and prior to the first use or occupation of the
development, a verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness
of the remediation carried out must be produced together with any
necessary monitoring and maintenance programme and copies of any
waste transfer notes relating to exported and imported soils shall be
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval. The approved
monitoring and maintenance programme shall be implemented. The
above must be undertaken in accordance with DEFRA and the
Environment Agency’s ‘Model Procedures for the Management of Land
Contamination, CLR 11’.
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users
of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that
the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to
workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.

15.

EH Contamination 3- Reporting of Unexpected Contamination
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out
the approved development that was not previously identified it must be
reported in writing immediately to the Local Planning Authority. An
investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in accordance
with the requirements of condition 1, and where remediation is
necessary a remediation scheme must be prepared in accordance with
the requirements of condition 1, which is subject to the approval in
writing of the Local Planning Authority. Following completion of
measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a verification
report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of
the Local Planning Authority in accordance with condition 1.
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users
of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that
the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to
workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.

Page 46

16.

Noise
Noise emitted from operations within the site, measured as a Rating
Level in accordance with BS4142 'Method for rating industrial noise
affecting mixed residential and industrial areas' at the boundaries of
the nearby residential premises, shall not exceed the background LA90
noise level that would otherwise prevail in the absence of noise from
the site by more than 5dB(A).
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not materially
prejudice the amenity of the surrounding premises in accordance with
Policy SE22 of the Watford District Plan 2000.

17.

Cycle storage
Prior to occupation of the new development, secure and weatherproof
cycle storage shall be installed in the site in accordance with approved
drawing 18019-TP-005.
Reason: To ensure that secure and weatherproof cycle storage facilities
are provided for employees and visitors in accordance with Policy T10
of the Watford District Plan 2000 and Policy UD1 of the Watford Local
Plan Core Strategy 2006-31.

18.

No part of the development shall be occupied until a detailed soft
landscaping scheme for the site, including details of an appropriate
irrigation systems, and a landscape management and maintenance plan,
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The detailed scheme shall be based upon the Landscape
Proposals of the approved drawings. The approved soft landscaping
scheme shall be carried out not later than the first available planting and
seeding season after completion of development. Any trees or plants
whether new or existing which within a period of five years die, are
removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in
the next planting season with others of similar size and species, or in
accordance with details approved by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the site and the
wider area, in accordance with Policy UD1 of the Watford Local Plan Core
Strategy 2006-31.

Informatives
IN907 Consideration of proposal in a positive and proactive manner
IN910 Building Regulations
IN912 Hours of Construction

Page 47

Page 48

Page 49

Page 50

Page 51

Agenda Item 6

Committee date
Application reference
Site address
Proposal

Applicant
Agent
Type of Application
Reason for
committee Item
Target decision date
Statutory publicity
Case officer
Ward
1.

Wednesday, 14 April 2021
20/00541/VARM - 112-114, The Parade
Variation of Condition 2 (approved drawings - internal
layouts and roof) and modification of the Section 106
Unilateral Undertaking (to change the affordable housing
provision) of planning permission 14/00954/FULM for the
retention of ground floor Class A4 uses (drinking
establishments) and the extension and conversion of the
upper floors to provide 15 residential flats.
Aimrok Developments Ltd
HGH Consulting
Full planning application – s.73 variation
Major development
16th April 2021 (extended by agreement)
Public advertisement and site notice
Paul Baxter, paul.baxter@watford.gov.uk
Central

Recommendation
Approve subject to conditions as set out in section 5 of this report.

2.

Site and surroundings

2.1

The site is located on the south-western side of The Parade adjoining Faircross
House and facing the pond. The redevelopment of the site under planning
permission 14/00954/FULM for the retention of two ground floor commercial
units and the provision of 15 new residential flats above has been completed.

2.2

The site falls within the Civic Core Conservation Area and the Secondary Retail
Frontage of the town centre.

3.

Summary of the proposal

3.1

Proposal
On 02 September 2020 the Committee resolved to grant planning permission
for the application subject to conditions and a variation to the s.106
agreement. The report to Committee on 02 September 2020 is attached as
Appendix 1. The variation to the s.106 agreement has not been completed and
no planning permission has been issued.

Page 52

3.2

Since the resolution of the Committee on 2 September 2020, the applicant has
undertaken a viability appraisal of the development and has concluded that
the previously agreed commuted sum payment of £1,078,816 to be included
in the agreement is not viable. The submitted viability appraisal concludes that
no commuted sum is viable for the development. The applicant has therefore
requested a further variation to the heads of terms of the s.106 agreement.

3.3

The amended floorplans pursuant to Condition 2 remain unchanged.

3.4

Conclusion
The applicant’s viability appraisal has been reviewed by consultants Aspinall
Verdi on behalf of the Council. They have reviewed the assumptions and
inputs to the appraisal and have concluded that a commuted sum payment of
£406,980 is viable. This revised sum is considered to be reasonable and viable
and is included in the recommendation for approval.

4.

Main considerations

4.1

The revised s.106 heads of terms previously approved by the Committee
provided for a commuted sum of £1,078,816, as calculated using the Council’s
Commuted Sums for the Provision of Affordable Housing SPD, to be paid to
the Council in the event that the 5 affordable rented units had not been
acquired by a Registered Provider within a period of 6 months from the date
of permission.

4.2

Whilst the preference remains to provide the affordable housing units on site
in the first instance, since the resolution by the Committee, the applicant has
undertaken a viability appraisal of the development to evaluate the level of
contribution that could be provided if the affordable housing cannot be
provided on site. The viability appraisal submitted by the applicant concluded
that no commuted sum payment was viable. This has been reviewed on behalf
of the Council by Aspinall Verdi who have concluded that a commuted sum
payment of £406,980 is viable. This is based on adjustments to some of the
inputs used by the applicant, in particular a reduction of £375,000 in the
Benchmark Land Value used; a reduction in the profit level for the ground
floor commercial units by 5% (to 15%); and a reduction in the profit level for
the upper floor residential units by 2.5% (to 17.5%). These inputs are
considered to be in line with industry standard assumptions for the type of
development proposed. Other minor changes have also been made.

4.3

In light of this review, it is considered that a commuted sum of £406,980 is a
reasonable and viable commuted payment in this case and is acceptable.

Page 53

5.

Recommendation
That, pursuant to a planning obligation under s.106 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 having been completed to secure the Heads of Terms,
planning permission be granted subject to the conditions listed below:
Section 106 Heads of Terms
i)

To secure 5 units on the first floor of the development to be Affordable
Housing units for affordable rent comprising 4 x 1 bedroom and 1 x 2
bedroom units;

ii)

No more than 9 units of Open Market Housing units to be occupied
before the Owner has entered into a legally binding agreement with a
Registered Provider in respect of the Affordable Housing units or paid
the commuted sum referred to below;

iii)

In the event the Affordable Housing units are not acquired by a
Registered Provider within a period of 6 months, a commuted sum of
£406,980 to be paid to the Council;

iv)

On payment of the commuted sum to the Council, the Affordable
Housing units to be sold as Open Market units.

Conditions
1.

No dwelling shall be occupied until the internal works to the flats on
the first, second and third floors have been carried out in full in
accordance with the approved drawings.
Reason: To ensure the proposed flats meet the required minimum
internal floorspace standards and provide an acceptable level of
amenity for future occupiers.

2.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance
with the following approved drawings:594-CDA-A-00-DR-A-05-0100 Revision 04
594-CDA-A-01-DR-A-05-0101 Revision 07
594-CDA-A-02-DR-A-05-0102 Revision 07
594-CDA-A-03-DR-A-05-0103 Revision 07
594-CDA-A-04-DR-A-05-0104 Revision 01

Page 54

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper
planning.
3.

No dwelling or commercial unit shall be occupied until the cycle and bin
stores have been provided in accordance with the approved drawings.
Reason: To ensure adequate provision is made for the future occupiers
of the building.

Page 55

Committee date
Application reference
Site address
Proposal

Applicant
Agent
Type of Application
Reason for
committee Item
Target decision date
Statutory publicity
Case officer
Ward
1.

Wednesday, 02 September 2020
20/00541/VAR - 112-114, The Parade
Variation of Condition 2 (approved drawings - internal
layouts and roof) and modification of the Section 106
Unilateral Undertaking (to change the affordable housing
provision) of planning permission 14/00954/FULM for the
retention of ground floor Class A4 uses (drinking
establishments) and the extension and conversion of the
upper floors to provide 15 residential flats.
Aimrok Developments Ltd
HGH Consulting
Full planning application
Major development
31st August 2020
Public advertisement and site notice
Paul Baxter, paul.baxter@watford.gov.uk
Central

Recommendation
Approve subject to conditions as set out in section 8 of this report.

2.

Site and surroundings

2.1

The site is located on the south-western side of The Parade adjoining Faircross
House and facing the pond. The redevelopment of the site under planning
permission 14/00954/FULM for the retention of two ground floor commercial
units and the provision of 15 new residential flats above has recently been
completed.

2.2

The site falls within the Civic Core Conservation Area and the Secondary Retail
Frontage of the town centre.

3.

Summary of the proposal

3.1

Proposal
The redevelopment of the site has recently been completed. Although
undertaken pursuant to planning permission 14/00954/FULM, the
configuration, floor areas and internal layout of the 15 flats do not accord with
the approved drawings. The approved drawings show 15 x 1 bedroom, 2

Page 56

person flats. As constructed, the 15 flats comprise a mix of 6 x 1 bedroom and
9 x 2 bedroom flats with the majority being below the minimum internal
floorspace standards for the size and number of bedrooms proposed. The
purpose of this application is to seek the approval of further amendments to
the internal floor layouts for the 15 flats within the overall configuration and
floor area of each flat as constructed.
3.2

The application also seeks to vary the Section 106 unilateral undertaking of
planning permission 14/00954/FULM. This included the following planning
obligation in respect of the provision of affordable housing:
(e)

No Open Market Housing Units shall be occupied on the Land
until the Owner has entered into a legally binding agreement in
respect of the Affordable Housing Units to grant a lease or
leases to a Registered Provider for a term of not less than 125
years or has entered into a legally binding agreement to transfer
to a Registered Provider such part of the Land as shall be
required in respect of the Affordable Housing Units.

The affordable housing units were to be five 1 bedroom, 2 person units on the
first floor for affordable rent tenure.
3.3

The application seeks to vary the mix and size of the affordable housing units
to reflect the proposed new flat configurations on the first floor. In the event
the affordable housing units are not acquired by a Registered Provider within
a period of 6 months, a commuted sum of £1,078,816 would be paid to the
Council in lieu of this on-site provision.

3.4

Changes are also proposed to the size of the roof garden area and the location
of bin and cycle stores at ground level.

3.5

Conclusion
The revised floor plan layouts for the flats on the first, second and third floors
are acceptable and will meet or exceed the minimum internal floorspace
standards. The payment of a commuted sum of £1,078,816 in the event that
the 5 Affordable Housing units are not acquired by a Registered Provider is
also supported.

4.

Relevant policies

4.1

Members should refer to the background papers attached to the agenda.
These highlight the policy framework under which this application is

Page 57

determined. Specific policy considerations with regard to this particular
application are detailed in section 6 below.
5.

Relevant site history/background information

5.1

14/00954/FULM - Retention of ground floor Class A4 uses (drinking
establishments) and the extension and conversion of the upper floors to
provide 15 residential flats. Planning permission granted 7th June 2016.
17/01743/NONMAT - Non-material amendment to planning permission ref.
14/00954/FULM for alterations to the wording of Condition 6 (noise
mitigation measures). Application granted 29th January 2018.
18/01587/NONMAT - Non-Material amendment to planning permission
14/00954/FULM for minor amendments made to the external facade, increase
in roof height and increase to rear stair core. Application granted 26th
February 2019.
19/00249/NONMAT - Non-material amendment to delete Condition 6 (noise
mitigation measures to ground floor units) from planning permission ref.
14/00954/FULM. Application granted 24th April 2019.
19/00250/COU - Change of use of 2 ground floor units from Class A4 (Drinking
Establishments) use to a flexible use for either Class A1 (Shops) or Class A2
(Financial and Professional Services). Planning permission granted 23rd April
2019.
19/01243/FUL - Installation of new glazed double door with sidelights (rear
elevation). Planning permission granted 23rd December 2019.

6.

Main considerations

6.1

The application proposes a number of changes The main issues to be
considered in the determination of these applications are:
(a) Quality of accommodation
(b) Affordable housing provision
(c) Amenity space provision
(d) Bin and cycle storage

Page 58

6.2

(a) Quality of accommodation
The approved flats were all 1 bedroom, 2 person units and all met or
exceeded the minimum floorarea of 50sqm (varying from 51.4-58.9sqm) with
the exception of one flat at 49.1sqm.

6.3

The amended flats as now proposed are as follows:
Flat Number
First floor Flat 01
First floor Flat 02
First floor Flat 03
First floor Flat 04
First floor Flat 05
Second floor Flat 01
Second floor Flat 02
Second floor Flat 03
Second floor Flat 04
Second floor Flat 05
Third floor Flat 01
Third floor Flat 02
Third floor Flat 03
Third floor Flat 04
Third floor Flat 05

Size
1 bed, 2 person
1 bed, 2 person
1 bed, 2 person
1 bed, 1 person
2 bed, 3 person
1 bed, 2 person
1 bed, 2 person
1 bed, 2 person
1 bed, 1 person
2 bed, 3 person
1 bed, 1 person
1 bed, 1 person
1 bed, 2 person
1 bed, 1 person
1 bed, 2 person

Floorarea (sqm)
52.6
56.8
57.2
46.8
60.4
52.3
57.3
56.7
46.8
60.4
42.8
44.5
50.1
41.8
51.7

Compliant
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
No (-0.6sqm)
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
No (-0.6sqm)
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes

Flats 05 on the first and second floors are only very slightly below the
minimum floor area by 0.6sqm which, whilst not ideal, is unlikely to cause any
detrimental harm to the living conditions of future residents.
6.4

All of the flats would have good levels of outlook, natural light and privacy.
The position of windows has not changed.

6.5

(b) Affordable housing provision
The Section 106 unilateral undertaking requires the five 1 bedroom flats on
the first floor to be affordable rented units, sold or leased to a Registered
Provider before the occupation of any of the Open Market Housing Units.
Evidence has been submitted to show that 13 Registered Providers were
contacted in 2018 regarding acquiring the affordable units but no offers were
received. A number of providers did not respond while others stated that they
had no interest in acquiring these units. It is not entirely clear what the
reasons were. These providers have recently been contacted again in 2020
and again no positive responses have been received.

Page 59

6.6

In the event that the applicant is still unable to secure a Registered Provider to
acquire these units, the only other option is for a commuted sum to be paid to
the Council in lieu of the provision of these units. Based on the Council’s
adopted supplementary planning document on commuted sums for
affordable housing, the commuted sum in this case would be £1,078,816.

6.7

The applicant has proposed the following trigger mechanisms for the payment
of the commuted sum to the Council:
●

●

●

No more than 9 units of Open Market Housing units can be occupied
before the Owner has entered into a legally binding agreement with a
Registered Provider in respect of the Affordable Housing units or paid
the commuted sum referred to below;
In the event of no legally binding agreement with a Registered Provider
within a period of 6 months from the grant of planning permission, a
commuted sum of £1,078,816 shall be paid to the Council in lieu of the
on-site provision of 5 Affordable Housing units;
On payment of the agreed commuted sum the remaining Open Market
Housing units can be occupied and the 5 Affordable Housing units can
be transferred to Open Market Housing units and thus occupied.

6.8

These requirements can be secured through a new Section 106 unilateral
undertaking in the event of planning permission being granted.

6.9

(c) Amenity space provision
The approved scheme provided amenity space at roof level of 152sqm. As
constructed, this area has been reduced to 35sqm. This is regrettable as the
flats do not have individual balconies. However, the site adjoins the
pedestrianised public realm on The Parade which includes the pond and public
seating and is a short walk from Cassiobury Park. Given the town centre
location of the site and its accessibility to a wide range of services, it is not
considered that the reduction in the roof amenity area is unduly harmful to
the overall amenity of the flats.

6.10

(d) Bin and cycle storage
The bin and cycle stores are located at the rear of the site within a small open
yard area. Although the siting has changed within this area, this is acceptable.

7.

Consultation responses received

7.1

Statutory consultees and other organisations
None required.

Page 60

7.2

Internal Consultees
The Housing team support the payment of the commuted sum if the
affordable housing units cannot be delivered on-site.

7.3

Interested parties
Letters were sent to 37 properties in the surrounding area. No responses
have been received.

8.

Recommendation
That, pursuant to a planning obligation under s.106 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 having been completed to secure the Heads of Terms,
planning permission be granted subject to the conditions listed below:
Section 106 Heads of Terms
i)

To secure 5 units on the first floor of the development to be Affordable
Housing units for affordable rent comprising 4 x 1 bedroom and 1 x 2
bedroom units;

ii)

No more than 9 units of Open Market Housing units to be occupied
before the Owner has entered into a legally binding agreement with a
Registered Provider in respect of the Affordable Housing units or paid
the commuted sum referred to below;

iii)

In the event the Affordable Housing units are not acquired by a
Registered Provider within a period of 6 months, a commuted sum of
£1,078,816 to be paid to the Council;

iv)

On payment of the commuted sum to the Council, the Affordable
Housing units to be sold as Open Market units.

Conditions
1.

No dwelling shall be occupied until the internal works to the flats on
the first, second and third floors have been carried out in full in
accordance with the approved drawings.
Reason: To ensure the proposed flats meet the required minimum
internal floorspace standards and provide an acceptable level of
amenity for future occupiers.

Page 61

2.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance
with the following approved drawings:594-CDA-A-00-DR-A-05-0100 Revision 04
594-CDA-A-01-DR-A-05-0101 Revision 07
594-CDA-A-02-DR-A-05-0102 Revision 07
594-CDA-A-03-DR-A-05-0103 Revision 07
594-CDA-A-04-DR-A-05-0104 Revision 01
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper
planning.

3.

No dwelling or commercial unit shall be occupied until the cycle and bin
stores have been provided in accordance with the approved drawings.
Reason: To ensure adequate provision is made for the future occupiers
of the building.

Page 62

Site location plan

Proposed first floor plan

Page 63

Proposed second floor plan

Proposed third floor plan

Page 64

